**In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia**

Docket No. 23-629

SCA EFiled: Jan 29 2024  
03:40PM EST  
Transaction ID 71897726

**THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA**

Plaintiff-Respondent

Appeal from a final order  
the Circuit Court of  
Pendleton County (23-F-3)

V.)

**RICHARD A. HENSLEY, JR.**  
Defendant-Petitioner

**Petitioner's Brief**

**Counsel for Petitioner, Richard A. Hensley, Jr.**

G. Isaac Sponaugle, III (WV Bar #9720)

*Counsel of Record*

Sponaugle & Sponaugle

Attorneys at Law

223 Chestnut Street

P.O. Box 578

Franklin, West Virginia 26807

(304)-358-2337 (office)

(304)-358-2483 (fax)

isaac@sponauglelaw.com

## **

## **INTRODUCTION**

This matter comes before the Court on a conditional plea made by the Petitioner in Circuit Court, pursuant to Rule 11(a)(2) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. The issue presented to this Court is the following:

In its June 7, 2023 Order, did the Circuit Court err by denying the Motion to Suppress the search warrant? The Defendant alleges the Affidavit in support of the search warrant was insufficient because it was based on a hearsay statement and did not establish the reliability of the confidential information. Defendant argues, therefore, that the search warrant was deficient, and any items seized as a result should be suppressed.

An alleged victim made a verbal criminal allegation to a law enforcement officer, who was not present at the scene when the alleged criminal allegation occurred. The law enforcement officer transcribed the verbal allegation into a written statement from the alleged victim. The law enforcement officer provided the written statement to a second law enforcement officer, who was not present when the verbal allegation was provided from the alleged victim to the original law enforcement officer. The second law enforcement officer did not know of, speak to or verify either the verbal allegation or the written statement made by the alleged victim to the original law enforcement officer. The second law enforcement officer sought a complaint for a search warrant and used the written statement as the basis for the affidavit for the complaint made by the alleged victim, which was granted by a magistrate.

Before a search warrant may be granted off of hearsay alone to search and seize items from an individual's home, law enforcement must either bolster the hearsay information or have firsthand knowledge of the hearsay information for it to be sufficient for a valid search warrant to be issued by a court. If not, then all evidence obtained from the search is inadmissible evidence at the trial pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

In this case, the search warrant was not supported with bolstered hearsay information or firsthand knowledge of the hearsay information by the second law enforcement officer to provide veracity to the hearsay information (written statement). Thus, the complaint and affidavit were not sufficient for a magistrate to grant a valid search warrant. Therefore, the motion to suppress all evidence from the search warrant should have been granted.

### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The Circuit Court erred in denying the motion to suppress because the search warrant was granted by a magistrate from an affidavit that was insufficient, which was based on a hearsay statement that did not establish the reliability of the confidential information.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On November 8, 2022, Sr. Trooper K.C. Raymond (hereinafter referred to as “Trooper Raymond”) appeared in front of Pendleton County Magistrate Kevin Puffenberger (hereinafter referred to as “Magistrate”), in the magistrate’s office, located in the Pendleton County Courthouse, with an affidavit and complaint for a search warrant in regard to Richard A. Hensley (hereinafter referred to as “Defendant”). (Appendix pg. 12-14)

The basis for the affidavit and complaint that were presented to the magistrate for a search warrant was a statement by Defendant’s wife, Stephanie Hensley (hereinafter referred to as “Defendant’s Wife”), to Corporal J.M. Ware (hereinafter referred to as “Corporal Ware”). (Appendix pg. 131) The verbatim language of the statement for the affidavit is the following:

On Monday 11/7/2022, Stephanie Hensley took her children and left her residence located at 85 Robin Hill Lane in Brandywine, due to her husband Richard Hensley being a threat to himself, On Tuesday, November 8<sup>th</sup> at approximately 1300 hours, Ms. Hensley returned to her residence located at 85 Robin Hill Lane. Ms. Hensley had her children with her. While traveling up the driveway she found the road to be blocked by a tractor. Ms. Hensley then attempted to enter her residence through a driveway.

(Appendix pg. 12)

(The undersigned cannot determine if the second page of "Search Warrant Continued" entitled "State the Facts" is the second page of the affidavit or the complaint for the search warrant, but the language contained therein is below). (Appendix pg. 14)

Located at Hoover Drive. The entrance to the residence was blocked by a Side by Side. Ms. Hensley was able to drive around the road obstruction and travel down the driveway towards the residence. While driving towards the residence Ms. Hensley observed some of the windows of the residence were open and the screens were removed. Ms. Hensley's attempt to make contact with Mr. Hensley by telephone. Ms. Hensley wanted to get some clothes for the children. Mr. Hensley did not answer while sitting in her vehicle she observed Mr. Hensley through a window, and he was armed with his "AR" type rifle. Mr. Hensley then shot at Ms. Hensley's vehicle at least four (4) times. Ms. Hensley then backed out of the driveway and left the area. This crime occurred in Pendleton County.

Corporal Ware gave the statement to Trooper Raymond and instructed him to seek a complaint for a search warrant. (Appendix pg. 134) The search warrant was issued on November 8, 2022. The search warrant granted law enforcement the right to search the Defendant's home located at 85 Robin Hill Lane, Brandywine, Pendleton County, West Virginia; all automobiles and outbuildings located on the residence; search for an AR style rifle; and for the arrest of the Defendant if he was at the location aforesaid. (Appendix pg. 13) The items seized during the search at the Defendant's home included a black AR type rifle and spent round casings. Additionally, the Defendant was arrested during the search. (Appendix pg. 15).

On April 12, 2023, a suppression hearing was held in the Circuit Court of Pendleton County, West Virginia. (Appendix pg. 127-152) The State of West Virginia subpoenaed Corporal Ware and Trooper Raymond to testify on behalf of the State. Pendleton County Prosecuting Attorney April Mallow called Trooper Raymond to the stand as a witness. (Appendix pg. 136-

141) Relevant testimony at the aforesaid hearing regarding the issue presented to this Court is the following:

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And who obtained that search warrant?

**Raymond:** It would have been signed by me. I applied for it through the magistrate's office.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And how did you come to do that?

**Raymond:** I obtained the—I was provided and obtained the statement that Mrs. Hensley had provided to Corporal Ware. Corporal Ware provided the statement to me and asked for the assistance in the application of the search warrant for the residence.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And you obtained that through the Magistrate Court of Pendleton County; is that correct?

**Raymond:** Yes, ma'am.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And that was specifically in order to obtain the firearm or anything used in the commission of this crime?

**Raymond:** Yes, ma'am.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And that was based upon the complaint made by Stephanie Hensley that Mr. Hensley had shot at herself and her four children; is that correct?

**Raymond:** That's correct.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. With a described AR type rifle; is that right?

**Raymond:** Yes, ma'am.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And that was obtained before Magistrate Puffenberger; is that correct?

**Raymond:** Yes, ma'am.

Trooper Raymond was then subjected to cross examination by the Defendant's Attorney, G. Isaac Sponaugle, III. The testimony that was presented to the Court was the following:

**Mr. Sponaugle:** The affidavit that was presented that was dated November the 8<sup>th</sup>, 2022, how did you obtain that information that was set forth in the narrative?

**Raymond:** It was a signed written statement that Mrs. Hensley had provided to Corporal Ware in reference to the complaints that she had brought forth -- that afternoon.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Did you speak to Ms. Hensley prior—

**Raymond:** I did not.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** You did not? So you were provided a written statement. You would—you would agree that it's hearsay. You didn't talk to her. It was something that Officer Ware provided to you.

**Raymond:** That is correct. It was a written statement provided by Corporal Ware from Mrs. Hensley.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** And in the affidavit itself, there doesn't seem to be any statement in regards to her reliability or veracity as a hearsay declarant. Did you—is that—that one page, is that the entire affidavit on it?

**Raymond:** Whatever is within the attachment of this affidavit was what would be—

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Is that what was presented?

**Raymond:** Yes, sir.

**Mrs. Sponaugle:** And the affidavit is what—based—the affidavit is what the magistrate issued the search warrant off of, correct?

**Raymond:** Yes, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** And what items were collected on the seizure of the house specifically?

Do you remember?

**Raymond:** It would have been the arrest of Mr. Hensley, as well as the black AR type rifle.

They are listed also within the affidavit of the property receipt. And there would have been several spent round casings, as well as the serial number of the AR description and other ammunition in regards to the rifle itself.

On May 16, 2023, a supplemental suppression hearing was held in the Circuit Court of Pendleton County, West Virginia. The State of West Virginia subpoenaed Trooper Raymond to testify on behalf of the State. Pendleton County Prosecuting Attorney April Mallow called Trooper Raymond to the stand as a witness, and he was subject to cross examination. (Appendix pg. 153-161) Relevant testimony at the aforesaid hearing regarding the issue presented to this Court is the following:

**Ms. Mallow:** Trooper Raymond, you previously testified in this matter, of course.

**Raymond:** Yes, sir – ma’am, sorry.

**Ms. Mallow:** That’s all right. What were you just telling me about Mrs. Hensley’s location during the course of this investigation?

**Raymond:** During the course of the processing and of the statements, she had remained at the office to stay in a secured state; and at that time, there was only Trooper Ware working at that time. That’s when he called to ask for assistance. In order to do the processing for it, she was going to remain at the office, and that’s why he had asked to do the assistance with the process of the search warrant.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. So she was there the entire time and you saw her there?

**Raymond:** Yes, ma’am.

**Ms. Mallow:** So you were in her presence?

**Raymond:** Yes, ma'am.

**Ms. Mallow:** What did you observe about her?

**Raymond:** She was taking care of the children. She seemed emotional, distraught, upset.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. So you actually viewed that part of...

**Raymond:** I did view her, yes.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay. And I think you advised me earlier that this all was happening in realtime; is that correct?

**Raymond:** That's correct.

**Ms. Mallow:** And the emergency nature of the situation at that time?

**Raymond:** That's correct.

**Ms. Mallow:** Okay.

Trooper Raymond was then subjected to cross examination by the Defendant's Attorney, G. Isaac Sponaugle, III. The testimony that was presented to the Court was the following:

**Mr. Sponaugle:** How many times have you used Ms. Hensley as an informant for the past for information?

**Raymond:** I did not have prior knowledge of them prior to this.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** How many times have you or your brother police officers used her as a reliable informant to assist you in the prosecution in the past?

**Raymond:** I don't have an answer for that. I don't know.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** When you made reference in the "Probable Grounds for the Issuance of Warrants," did you set forth that she was a confidential and reliable informant that had been reliable in the past?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Did you know at the time you obtained the search warrant whether or not she was a reliable informant?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** At the time of the search warrant, did you have any reliable information that she provided to anybody in the past, Ms. Hensley?

**Raymond:** Other than the discussion of other officers of the mental hygiene issues.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Were you present when those conversations occurred on the mental hygiene?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** And was any action taken by law enforcement to have a mental hygiene at that time based off her statements?

**Raymond:** I am not sure.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Do you know anything about her past conduct?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Did you know her identity at the time of observing search warrant meaning other than her statement to you? Had you ever met Ms. Hensley before?

**Raymond:** I had not met her.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** So you had no prior relationship or anything involved with her?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** And you didn't take the statement, correct?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** And that was Trooper Ware that took the statement?

**Raymond:** Yes, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** And he handed you the statement to go to the magistrate?

**Raymond:** Yes, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Okay. And based off the statement is how the search warrant was issued?

**Raymond:** Yes, sir.

**Mr. Sponaugle:** Are you aware of any other investigations that she has participated with in the past?

**Raymond:** No, sir.

On June 7, 2023, the Circuit Court entered an Order Denying the Motion to Suppress. (See Appendix Pg. 1-7) The Court further ordered that any evidence seized as a result of the search warrant that was issued was admissible at the trial. On September 5, 2023, the parties informed the court that they have reached a plea agreement. The plea agreement was a conditional plea pursuant to Rule 11(a)(2) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. (See Appendix Pg. 114-119)

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The affidavit with the complaint requesting a search warrant that was presented to the magistrate was based solely on a hearsay statement. The affiant lacked any basis of knowledge as to the truth of the hearsay statement and lacked any basis of knowledge as to the veracity of the declarant to support the truth of the hearsay statement. Thus, the search warrant that was granted by the magistrate is invalid. As a result, all evidence obtained from the search and seizure is inadmissible evidence for the State to present at trial.

## **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Oral argument is necessary pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. This case should be set for a Rule 19 argument as it would significantly aid in the decisional process. This case is suitable for a Rule 19 argument because it involves an assignment of error in the application of settled law; insufficient evidence or a result against the weight of the evidence; and involves a narrow issue of law. This case is not appropriate for a memorandum decision.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review of a Circuit Court's ruling on a motion to suppress is set forth in *State v. Farley*, 192 W.Va. 247, 452 S.E.2d 50 (1994). It is a two-tier standard test. First, a review of the circuit court's findings of fact when ruling on a motion to suppress evidence under the clearly erroneous standard. Second, a review of de novo questions of law and the circuit court's ultimate conclusion as to the constitutionality of the law enforcement action.

#### **FOURTH AMENDMENT PROTECTION AGAINST UNREASONABLE SEARCH AND SEIZURES**

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution states:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated; and no Warrants shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

When law enforcement officers violate the Fourth Amendment, use of the evidence obtained directly and indirectly from that violation may be barred by the exclusionary rule. *Wong Sun v. U.S.*, 371 U.S. 471, 484, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963).

The United States Supreme Court has held that it is constitutionally permissible under

certain conditions to attack a search warrant affidavit. If such an attack is successful, this will result in voiding the search warrant and rendering the property seized under such warrant inadmissible.

*Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978).

With regard to the issuance of a warrant, “[r]eviewing courts should grant magistrates deference when reviewing warrants for probable cause. Such warrants should be judged by a ‘totality-of-the-circumstances’ test.” Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Corey*, 233 W. Va. 297, 758 S.E.2d 117, 120 (2014) (per curium) (quoting syl. pt. 5, *State v. Wa*, 187 W.Va. 686, 421 S.E.2d 227 (1992)).

With regard to the validity of an affidavit for a search warrant:

Under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution, the validity of an affidavit for a search warrant is to be judged by the totality of the information contained in it. Under this rule, a conclusory affidavit is not acceptable nor is an affidavit based on hearsay acceptable unless there is a substantial basis for crediting the hearsay set out in the affidavit which can include the corroborative efforts of police officers.

Syl. pt. 2, *Corey* (quoting syl. pt. 4, *State v. Adkins*, 176 W.Va. 613, 346 S.E.2d 762 (1986)).

“There are several different ways for the police to corroborate an informant’s “veracity.” One way is to independently confirm what the informant said is true. Another way is to create circumstances under which the informant is unlikely to lie.” *State v. Lilly*, 194 W. Va. 595, 604, 461 S.E.2d 101, 110 (1995).

#### HEARSAY

The Defendant’s Wife provided a written statement to Corporal Ware alleging criminal allegations against the Defendant. Corporal Ware was not present at the scene when the alleged criminal allegations occurred. Corporal Ware provided the written statement to Trooper Raymond who used the written statement as the basis for the affidavit for the complaint for a search warrant with the magistrate.

Rule 801 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence sets forth the following:

- (a) Statement.** "Statement" means a person's oral assertion, written assertion, or nonverbal conduct, if the person intended it as an assertion.
- (b) Declarant.** "Declarant" means the person who made the statement.
- (c) Hearsay.** "Hearsay" means a statement that:
  - (1) the declarant does not make while testifying at the current trial or hearing; and
  - (2) a party offers in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement.

The written statement by Defendant's Wife that was provided to Corporal Ware meets the definition of hearsay under Rule 801. The written statement provided from Corporal Ware to Trooper Raymond who used the same as the basis for the affidavit for the complaint for a search warrant with the magistrate meets the definition of hearsay under Rule 801 or is hearsay within hearsay or double hearsay.

#### HEARSAY REQUIREMENTS FOR AFFIDAVIT

The validity of an affidavit for a search warrant is to be judged by the totality of the information contained in it. Under the law, a conclusory affidavit is not acceptable nor is an affidavit based on hearsay acceptable unless there is a substantial basis for crediting the hearsay set out in the affidavit, which may include the corroborative efforts of police officers. *State v. Adkins*, 176 W. Va. 613 (1986).

The United States Supreme Court had set forth that when using hearsay for purposes of obtaining a search warrant the affidavit must (1) show the informant's "basis of knowledge" and (2) must contain information so the magistrate can determine the informant's veracity by either showing (a) the informant is credible or (b) his information is otherwise reliable through some independent informant's corroboration such as police investigation. The "basis of knowledge" and the "veracity" were considered the two-prong test. *Aguilar v. Texas*, 378 U.S. 108, 114, 84 S.Ct.

1509, 1514, 12 L.Ed.2d 723, 729 (1964); *Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U.S. 410, 415-16, 89 S.Ct. 584, 588-89, 21 L.Ed.2d 637, 643-44 (1969); *State v. Stone*, 165 W.Va. 266, 268 S.E.2d 50 (1980).

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