IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 23-629

SCA EFiled: Mar 14 2024
03:43PM EDT
Transaction ID 72522967

RICHARD A. HENSLEY JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Frankie Dame (WV Bar # 14401)
Assistant Solicitor General
State Capitol Complex
Building 1, Room E-26
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: Frankie.A.Dame@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-2021
Facsimile: (304) 558-0140**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The affidavit’s facts were sufficiently detailed and trustworthy to justify a prudent person in believing that Petitioner had committed a crime and that a search would produce evidence of that crime. Mrs. Hensley’s statement to the police was eminently believable. She explained in detail how her husband had become a threat to himself, eventually shooting his AR at her and their children. Neither the affidavit then nor Petitioner now offers a reason to doubt her story. The totality of the circumstances in the affidavit show “probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant”—doubly so given that this Court affords affidavit-sufficiency decisions “great” and “particular” deference and construes all facts and inferences in the “light most favorable” to the State. Petitioner disagrees, arguing that the affidavit was fatally infected with two levels of hearsay—one transmitted from Mrs. Hensley to Corporal Ware, and the other from Corporal Ware to Trooper Raymond. But in West Virginia, affidavits can be based on hearsay so long as it is reliable. Good reason exists here to credit both alleged levels of hearsay as reliable: treatises and state and federal law agree that because Mrs. Hensley was a crime victim, not a confidential informant, her statement is presumed reliable. Those same authorities also agree that the transmission to Trooper Raymond from Corporal Ware was presumably reliable, too. Again, nothing in the affidavit or Petitioner’s briefing defeats those presumptions here. So the Court should interpret the affidavit commonsensically and affirm the circuit court.

II. Even if the Court disagrees and holds that the affidavit was insufficient, the search was proper under both the good faith exception and emergency exception to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement. First, the officers here relied in good faith on the warrant. Corporal Ware carefully took crime victim Mrs. Hensley’s statement and Trooper Raymond faithfully transmitted it to the magistrate. Officers routinely credit victims’ statements and rely on each other’s work. So no reasonably well-trained officer would have known the search was illegal. Petitioner’s

argument to the contrary misreads and tries to amend West Virginia case law by adding a new category of cases where the good faith exception wouldn't apply. The Court should not bite. Second, officers could have conducted this search under the emergency exception even if they did not have a warrant in hand. Under that exception, officers may conduct a limited search when they have an objectively reasonable belief that someone is imminently threatened with serious injury. Here, Petitioner had become a threat to himself, was armed with an AR rifle, and had reached a point where he was willing to shoot at his wife and children. The officers therefore had the right to search the house and seize Petitioner and his weapon to prevent him from hurting himself or others.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Because the facts here and the law regarding warrant affidavits are clear, this case does not need Rule 19 or Rule 20 oral argument. The Court can decide it on the briefs, and it is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The search warrant affidavit showed probable cause to believe Petitioner had committed a crime and that the police would find evidence of that crime during their search.

The United States and West Virginia Constitutions allow search warrants to issue only “upon probable cause.” U.S. Const. amend. IV; W. Va. Const. art. III, § 6. And a magistrate can issue a warrant “only upon complaint on oath or affirmation supported by affidavit sworn to or affirmed before the judge or magistrate setting forth the facts establishing the grounds for issuing the warrant.” W. Va. Code § 62-1A-3. Probable cause “exists if the facts and circumstances” in the “affidavit are sufficient to warrant the belief of a prudent person of reasonable caution that a crime has been committed.” Syl. pt. 7, *State v. Payne*, 239 W. Va. 247, 800 S.E.2d 833 (2016). This “determination does not depend solely upon individual facts; rather, it depends on the

cumulative effect of the facts in the totality of circumstances.” *Id.* And “a finding of ‘probable cause’ may rest upon evidence which is not legally competent in a criminal trial.” *United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 107 (1965).

This Court is highly deferential to magistrate decisions on affidavits’ sufficiency:

[A]fter-the-fact scrutiny by the courts of the sufficiency of an affidavit should not take the form of de novo review. A magistrate’s determination of probable cause should be paid great deference by reviewing courts. A grudging or negative attitude by reviewing courts toward warrants is inconsistent with the Fourth Amendment’s strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant

State v. Dumire, No. 19-1086, 2020 WL 7391153, at *4 (W. Va. Dec. 16, 2020) (quoting *State v. Thomas*, 187 W. Va. 686, 694, 421 S.E.2d 227, 235 (1992) (cleaned up)). This Court also “construe[s] all facts in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing party below.” Syl. pt. 2, *Payne*, 239 W. Va. 247, 800 S.E.2d 833 (cleaned up). And it gives “particular deference” to the lower court at every step of the sufficiency-of-the-affidavit analysis. *Id.*

The affidavit here justifies a prudent, reasonable person’s belief that Petitioner had committed a crime and still possessed the crime weapon. Mrs. Hensley came to the police of her own accord. She gave a detailed account of her husband’s behavior, explaining that Petitioner had become a threat to himself and barricaded himself in their house; and when she tried to return to the house, he shot his AR at her and their children several times. She came to the police directly after that. Mrs. Hensley’s story is simple, straightforward, and believable. At each step it rings true. The affidavit reveals no reason to doubt its veracity—such as pecuniary gain or nefarious motives. And Petitioner suggests none on appeal. So probable cause exists here because, “given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there [was] a fair probability that . . . evidence of [Petitioner’s] crime [would] be found” at his home. *United States v. Cobb*, 970 F.3d 319, 326 (4th Cir. 2020) (quoting *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238-39 (1983)) (cleaned up). Indeed, even the simple fact that the victim identified the defendant “as one of [her] attackers” could have been

enough for “probable cause.” *Ritchie v. Jackson*, 98 F.3d 1335 (4th Cir. 1996) (table decision). That conclusion is doubly true now given the “great” and “particular” deference this Court shows to lower courts’ warrant decisions and because all facts are construed in favor of the State at this stage.

This case is like *State v. Corey*, for instance, where this Court affirmed a warrant affidavit in the face of insufficiency and hearsay objections. Like the affidavit here, the *Corey* affidavit consisted of several paragraphs, which “describ[ed] in detail how and where” the crime occurred. *State v. Corey*, 233 W. Va. 297, 305, 758 S.E.2d 117, 125 (2014). Both affidavits included a statement by the accused’s significant other implicating him by name and establishing their relationship. *Id.* Both affidavits included the potential motive (suicidal ideation here, anger there). *Id.* And both affidavits explained that the perpetrator possessed the crime weapon (guns in both cases). *Id.* If anything, the affidavit here was more reliable than *Corey*’s affidavit because it contains the eyewitness account of the victim herself. This Court said the *Corey* affidavit was “detailed and set[] forth ample grounds that establish probable cause” even without that additional level of detail. *Id.* (quoting *State v. Bruffey*, 231 W. Va. 502, 513, 745 S.E.2d 540, 551 (2013)). In the same way and more, then, “the totality of the circumstances” alleged in this affidavit show a “sufficient basis to demonstrate probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant.” *State v. Corbett*, 177 W. Va. 397, 399, 352 S.E.2d 149, 151 (1986).

Petitioner disagrees. He believes the affidavit was insufficient on two grounds: the police did not sufficiently bolster “informant” Mrs. Hensley’s reliability and the officer who initially took Mrs. Hensley’s statement was not the averring officer. This counts as double hearsay, Petitioner says, and the evidence seized using the purportedly invalid warrant that came from it must be suppressed. Pet’r Br. 12.

It's true that the warrant affidavit included hearsay, but Petitioner is wrong that this type of evidence invalidates the warrant. West Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 41(c) allows a magistrate judge to find probable cause even when the warrant affidavit is "based upon hearsay evidence in whole or in part." The U.S. Supreme Court agrees: "an affidavit may be based on hearsay information and need not reflect the direct personal observations of the affiant." *Ventresca*, 380 U.S. at 108 (cleaned up). This Court has provided more detail to the rule, explaining that hearsay isn't a problem so long as there is "a substantial basis for crediting" it. Syl. pt. 2, *Corey*, 233 W. Va. 297, 758 S.E.2d 117 (cleaned up). Here, the magistrate had that substantial basis to credit both levels of hearsay. First, because Mrs. Hensley was a crime victim, not an informant, her statement is presumed to be reliable. Her statement passes the reliability test handily even without that presumption—with it, Petitioner's case is all but ended. Second, information given from one officer to another is presumably reliable, too.

A. Mrs. Hensley was not an informant but a crime victim, so a presumption of reliability attaches to her statement.

Petitioner acknowledges that Mrs. Hensley had an adequate "basis of knowledge" to support probable cause. Pet'r Br. 14. His chief issue with her statement is what he calls a lack of "corroboration of [her] veracity." Pet'r Br. 14. In particular, the affidavit lacked a statement about Mrs. Hensley's veracity or "collaboration by Trooper Raymond." Pet'r Br. 14. Ultimately, this reliability argument flows from Petitioner's misidentification of Mrs. Hensley as a criminal "informant." *See, e.g.*, Pet'r Br. 12-14 (reciting and analyzing reliability tests for "informants"). Applying the correct test, the officers were not required to conduct the additional levels of investigation Petitioner asks this Court to require.

Contrary to Petitioner's repeated assertions, Mrs. Hensley was a crime victim and witness—not an informant. That distinction matters. Authorities draw a sharp distinction between

informants existing in “the criminal milieu” and the “average citizen who has found [herself] in the position of a crime victim or witness.” 2 WAYNE R. LAFAVE, SEARCH & SEIZURE § 3.4 (6th ed. October 2022 update); *accord* 4 BARBARA E. BERGMAN ET AL., WHARTON’S CRIMINAL PROCEDURE § 25:13 (14th ed. June 2023 update). Keeping these categories distinct is important because a “traditional police informer” gives information “in exchange for some concession, payment, or simply out of revenge against the subject,” whereas “an ordinary citizen who reports a crime [that] has been committed in his presence” does so with the “intent to aid the police in law enforcement because of his concern for society or for his own safety.” *State v. Smith*, 867 S.W.2d 343, 347 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993) (cleaned up) (quoting *State v. Paszek*, 184 N.W.2d 836, 842-43 (Wis. 1971)). Here, the affidavit accurately presents Mrs. Hensley as a crime victim, not an informant. And the police officers below repeatedly said the same—that Mrs. Hensley was neither an “informant” nor “unidentified.” App. 97-98. Rather, she was an ordinary citizen who had the misfortune of suffering criminal violence at the hands of her husband and who reported that violence to the police.

That Mrs. Hensley was a crime victim, not an informant, decides this issue because the law assumes crime victims and witnesses are far more reliable than informants. Although it appears this Court has not squarely adopted this presumption, treatise after treatise says that in the American system, “[a] citizen informant who has personally observed the commission of a crime is presumptively reliable” for probable cause purposes. 5 AM. JUR. 2D *Arrest* § 38 (Feb. 2024 update).¹ State courts also routinely hold that the average citizen reporting a crime in their capacity

¹ See also 79 C.J.S. *Searches* § 221 (Aug. 2023 update) (“The reliability of an informant providing information for a search warrant may be shown by the fact that he or she is a citizen informant not involved in the criminal milieu, or is a crime witness or victim.”); 2 WAYNE R. LAFAVE ET AL., CRIMINAL PROCEDURE § 3.3(d) (4th ed. Dec. 2023 update) (“person purporting to be a crime victim or witness may be presumed reliable”); JOHN M. BURKOFF, SEARCH WARRANT LAW DESKBOOK § 4:4 (Feb. 2024 update) (saying the U.S. Supreme Court has long “intimated … that probable cause information obtained from

as witness or victim is “presumed to be credible and reliable.” *State v. Long*, 2020-Ohio-4090, 157 N.E.3d 362, ¶ 35 (6th Dist.); *see also Diggs v. State*, 257 A.3d 993, 1007 (Del. 2021) (saying a “presumption of reliability” attaches to “an average citizen [who] takes the initiative in communicating to the police the fact that he has been a victim or a witness to a crime”).²

Federal cases adopt this presumption of reliability, too—going so far as to say that a single “victim’s ‘reliable identification of [her] attacker’ almost always suffices to establish probable cause.” *English v. Clarke*, 90 F.4th 636, 646 (4th Cir. 2024) (quoting *Torchinsky v. Siwinski*, 942 F.2d 257, 262 (4th Cir. 1991)). In *Beauchamp v. City of Noblesville*, 320 F.3d 733, 743 (7th Cir. 2003), for example, the Seventh Circuit explained that “[t]he complaint of a single witness or putative victim alone generally is sufficient to establish probable cause to arrest unless the complaint would lead a reasonable officer to be suspicious.” Other circuits say the same. *See Wilson v. Russo*, 212 F.3d 781, 790 (3d Cir. 2000) (“[A] positive identification by a victim witness,

victims, eyewitnesses, or other ordinary citizens (as opposed to informants from the criminal milieu) was typically—and presumptively—to be treated as reliable”); BERGMAN, *supra*, § 25:13 (“Unlike confidential informants, the statements of crime victims and disinterested citizen-informants are presumed to be reliable unless there is evidence to the contrary.”).

² *See also State v. Undahl*, No. A07-2301, 2008 WL 4629093, at *1 (Minn. Ct. App. Oct. 21, 2008) (“There is a presumption that citizen informants are reliable.”); *State v. Chenoweth*, 158 P.3d 595, 610 (Wash. 2007) (noting the “presumed inherent reliability of a citizen informant”); *State v. Williams*, 193 S.W.3d 502, 507 (Tenn. 2006) (“The information provided by a citizen informant is presumed to be reliable.” (cleaned up)); *State v. Deluna*, 2001 UT App 401, ¶ 14, 40 P.3d 1136 (saying an “ordinary citizen-informant needs no independent proof of reliability or veracity” (cleaned up)); *People v. Cicciaro*, 133 A.D.2d 645, 645, 519 N.Y.S.2d 754, 755 (1987) (“[A] presumption of reliability applies to information provided by a disinterested citizen informant.”); *People v. Wirtz*, 661 P.2d 300, 301 (Colo. App. 1982) (“[T]he information of identified citizen informants has an inherent presumption of reliability.”); *People v. Grzeskiewicz*, 419 N.E.2d 56, 58 (Ill. App. Ct. 1981) (“In the case of an ordinary citizen informant, as contrasted with a paid police informer or a criminal, the ordinary citizen informant carries a presumption of reliability.”); *accord People v. Rowland*, 82 Cal. App. 5th 1099, 1111, 299 Cal. Rptr. 3d 206, 217 (2022) (cleaned up); *State v. Huntley*, 513 P.3d 1141, 1149 (Idaho 2022); *State v. Senna*, 2013 VT 67, ¶ 23, 194 Vt. 283, 79 A.3d 45; *City of Dickinson v. Hewson*, 2011 ND 187, ¶ 10, 803 N.W.2d 814, 817; *State v. Brown*, 2009-2456 (La. 5/11/10), 35 So. 3d 1069, 1074; *State v. Contreras*, 2003-NMCA-129, ¶ 10, 134 N.M. 503, 79 P.3d 1111; *State v. Evans*, 692 So. 2d 216, 219 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1997); *State v. Sailo*, 910 S.W.2d 184, 189 (Tex. App. 1995); *State v. Valley*, 830 P.2d 1255, 1258 (Mont. 1992); syl. pt. 3, *State v. Bowley*, 442 N.W.2d 215 (Neb. 1989); *State v. Michalko*, 419 N.W.2d 360 (Wis. Ct. App. 1987).

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